IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Tallahassee, Florida

CASE NO. 67,186

REED A. BRYAN, III, et al.,

Petitioner,

vs.

CENTURY NATIONAL BANK OF BROWARD, as Personal Representative of the Estate of CAMILLE PERRY BRYAN, Deceased,

Respondents.

REED A. BRYAN, III, et al.,

Petitioners,

vs.

JAMES H. BRYAN, SR., STUART BRYAN and LUCY GARDNER OWENS,

Respondents.

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON CONFLICT JURISDICTION

REED A. BRYAN, III, In proper person, c/o McCUNE, HIAASEN, CRUM FERRIS & GARDNER P. O. Box 14636 Fort Lauderdale, FL 33302 (305) 462-2000 LARRY KLEIN, of KLEIN & BERANEK, P.A. Suite 503 - Flagler Center 501 South Flagler Drive West Palm Beach, FL 33401 (305) 659-5455

JUN 24 1985

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This brief is solely on the issue of jurisdiction pursuant to Rule 9.120(d). Petitioner, REED A. BRYAN, III, filed his notice to invoke jurisdiction in the Fourth District Court of Appeal on June 11, 1985. The decision sought to be reviewed was issued by the Fourth District court on January 30, 1985, and rehearing was denied by order of May 30, 1985. This brief is accompanied by the appendix containing the District Court's opinion, the motions for rehearing and the orders relating thereto.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The decision of the Fourth District Court in this case is in express and direct conflict with the decision of the First District Court in <u>Fleming v. Fleming</u>, 352 So.2d 895 (Fla. 1st DCA 1977), and this Court should accept jurisdiction.

JURISDICTIONAL ISSUE

WHETHER THE DECISION OF THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IS DIRECTLY AND EXPRESSLY IN CONFLICT WITH FLEMING V. FLEMING, 352 SO.2D 895 (FLA. 1st DCA 1977).

ARGUMENT

The Fourth District Court held that a person who has become a voluntary ward under Section 744.341, Florida Statutes (1979) lacks the "capacity" to convey real and personal property without court approval. According to the opinion the only court which can give such approval is the court having jurisdiction over the guardianship proceeding. The opinion states:

We hold the deed from Camille Bryan to appellee, Reed Bryan, III, was ineffective to convey title to Bryan because the court that had jurisdiction over the guardianship never authorized or approved that conveyance.

* * *

...we reverse the order appealed from because Camille Bryan did not have the capacity to make the conveyance in question without court approval.

Camille Bryan was physically infirm due to advanced age but not mentally incapacitated. She became a voluntary ward under Section 744.341, Florida Statutes (1979), for physical reasons in 1977 and died in 1981. She had been very active in the establishment and development of Broward County and the City of Fort Lauderdale. She was a strong-willed lady and there is no question but that she was mentally competent although physically infirm in her later years. The District Court opinion so states. She wished to convey her home and personal property to Reed A. Bryan, III, a son of her

nephew. She was extremely close to Reed A. Bryan, III, and the trial court specifically held she was not the victim of undue influence or duress. The District Court affirmed this particular finding. Camille Bryan signed a deed conveying her real estate and personal property but unfortunately she died while approval of this conveyance was pending before the Probate Division where the guardianship matter was Thereafter the guardianship was dismissed and a filed. quiet title action was filed in the Civil Division and all interested parties and heirs litigated the validity of the The trial court held the deed to be effective but the District Court reversed concluding that the deed was void because court approval had not occurred prior to her death. The District Court chose not to recognize the approval of the deed which occurred subsequent to her death in the quiet title action. The holding was that only the Guardianship Judge could approve the deed and that "Camille Bryan did not have the capacity to make the conveyance in question without court approval."

This case is in direct conflict with <u>Fleming v.</u>
<u>Fleming</u>, 352 So.2d 895 (Fla. 1st DCA 1977). The <u>Fleming</u>
case was cited in the briefs before the District Court of
Appeal and holds that a deed by a physically but not
mentally incompetent person is merely voidable and that such

a deed can be effective to convey property. In Fleming the deed was approved after the death of the ward. At page 898 the First District Court of Appeal stated as follows:

An adjudication of either physical or mental incompetency as defined by Section 744.31, Florida Statutes (1973) carried a presumption that the incompetent is capable of managing his property. But the presumption is not conclusive; it may be overcome by proof that the person is in fact capable at the time of any transaction. Here, the trial court found the evidence showed Mrs. DeVaughn was competent at all material times to manage her property despite the adjudication of physical incompetency. We cannot disturb this finding unless evidence shows it is clearly erroneous. Waterman v. Higgins, 28 Fla. 660, 10 So. 97 (1891).

The Bryan decision and the <u>Fleming</u> decision are in direct conflict. <u>Fleming</u> holds that a physically incapacitated mentally competent person has capacity to convey property and that such a conveyance can be approved after the death of that person. The <u>Bryan</u> opinion by the Fourth District Court of Appeal holds expressly and directly to the contrary.

This Court should exercise its discretion and entertain the case on the merits. The elderly are one of the larger segments of the Florida population. Voluntary guardianships should be one solution to the problems of aging with dignity and the stigma of involuntary mental incompetency. The

voluntary ward should not be placed in a worse position than the mentally incompetent ward. Gifts by a voluntary ward are at most voidable and not void. Legal "capacity" to act should not be taken away.

CONCLUSION

Based upon the conflict between the decisions of the Fourth District and the First District this Court has jurisdiction and should accept the matter for review on the merits. The case is of importance because it relates to the rights of the elderly.

REED A. BRYAN, III, In proper person, c/o McCUNE, HIAASEN, CRUM FERRIS & GARDNER P. O. Box 14636 Fort Lauderdale, FL 33302 (305) 462-2000 LARRY KLEIN, of KLEIN & BERANEK, P.A. Suite 503 - Flagler Center 501 South Flagler Drive West Palm Beach, FL 33401 (305) 659-5455

, Jane