IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

CASE NO. 67,186

FILED

SID J. WHITE

JUL 12 1985

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By  Chief Deputy Clerk

REED A BRYAN, III, et al.,
Petitioner,

vs.

CENTURY NATIONAL BANK OF
BROWARD, as Personal
Representative of the
Estate of CAMILLE PERRY BRYAN,
Deceased,

Respondents.

REED A. BRYAN, III, et al.,
Petitioners,

vs.

JAMES H. BRYAN, SR., STUART
BRYAN and LUCY GARDNER OWENS,

Respondents.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON CONFLICT JURISDICTION

KENNETH R. MIKOS of
FRIEDRICH, BLACKWELL, MIKOS & RIDLEY, P.A.
Attorney for Respondents, CENTURY
NATIONAL BANK OF BROWARD
2900 East Oakland Park Boulevard
(305) 564-1245

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent, CENTURY NATIONAL BANK OF BROWARD, agrees with the Statement of the Case and Facts as set out in Petitioner's brief.

JURISDICTIONAL ISSUE

Petitioner, has stated the jurisdictional issue for decision as follows:

WHETHER THE DECISION OF THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IS DIRECTLY AND EXPRESSLY IN CONFLICT WITH FLEMING V. FLEMING, 352 So.2d 895 (FLA. 1st DCA 1977)

Respondent, CENTURY NATIONAL BANK OF BROWARD, prefers to restate the jurisdictional issue more concisely as follows:

WHETHER THE DECISION OF THE FOURTH DISTRICT OF APPEAL IS DIRECTLY AND EXPRESSLY IN CONFLICT WITH FLEMING V. FLEMING, 352 So.2d 895 (FLA. 1st DCA 1977) on the same question of law. (Emphasis supplied)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The decision of the Fourth District Court in this case is not in express and direct conflict with the decision of the First District Court in FLEMING V. FLEMING, 352 So.2d 895 (FLA. 1st DCA 1977) on the same question of law, and this Court need not and should not accept jurisdiction.

ARGUMENT

The beginning paragraph of the subject opinion of the Fourth District Court stated the precise issue which was decided as follows:

"The dispositive question in these consolidated appeals is whether a person who has become a voluntary ward, pursuant to section 744.341, Florida Statutes (1979), may during the pendency of the voluntary guardianship make inter vivos conveyances of the ward's real and personal property without court approval."
(Petitioner's Appendix A-5)

This issue raised and specifically decided, involved interpretation of the court approval requirements provided in § 744.441, Florida Statutes (1979).¹

Plainly and simply the Fourth District Court held that that deed upon which Petitioner's title was predicated was ineffective because it had never been approved by the Guardianship Court.²

The FLEMING V. FLEMING decision, asserted to be in conflict, on the other hand, never involved the issue of whether or not the subject deeds necessitated approval by the Guardianship Court. The procedural context in FLEMING

1 1.This statute enumerates those powers of a Guardian which can only be accomplished after obtaining Court approval. This is to be contrasted with § 744.444, Florida Statutes, which sets out those powers that a Guardian is permitted without Court approval.

2 2.Petitioner argues here for the first time that the Final Judgment below amounted to approval of the Deed by a Court having proper jurisdiction. However, Petitioner never objected to discharge of the Guardian after the Ward's death, never sought continuance of the approval proceedings pending in the Guardianship Court, nor did he appeal the Order terminating the Guardianship and discharging the Ward. Instead, Petitioner chose to begin a new proceeding to quiet title on the strength of his Deed alone, without regard to the considerations attendant to approval proceedings pursuant to § 744.441 Florida Statutes.

was manifestly different than involved in the decision of the Fourth District below. In FLEMING actions were brought by the administrator of the estates of a married couple, the DeVaughns, to set aside four deeds they had executed prior to their deaths. Although certain of the deeds were executed after Mrs. DeVaughn had been adjudicated incompetent, no approval proceedings had been instituted prior to her death in the guardianship court. The issue of whether approval was required was simply never raised. Not only was this precise issue raised in the Fourth District's opinion below, but the District Court squarely held that the statutory scheme outlined in the Florida Guardianship law renders a ward legally unable to convey his property without approval of the court, required under § 744.441, Florida Statutes. Considering this, it becomes apparent that no conflict exists or has been demonstrated since the FLEMING decision and the decision under review were based upon interpretation and consideration of different points and rules of law. (Emphasis supplied)

In Kyle V Kyle, 139 So.2d 885 (Fla.1962) this Court quite succinctly outlined the test for determining whether there is a direct conflict:

"In concluding that we have no jurisdiction to review the instant decision on the "conflict theory" we repeat what we have written on other occasions. The test of our jurisdiction in such situations is not measured simply by our view regarding the correctness of the Court of Appeal decision. On the contrary, jurisdiction to review because of an alleged conflict requires a preliminary determination as to whether the Court of Appeal has announced a decision on a point of law, which if permitted to stand, would be out of harmony with a

prior decision of this Court or another Court of Appeal on the same point, thereby generating confusion and instability among the precedents. We have said that conflict must be such that if the later decision and the earlier decision were rendered by the same Court the former would have the effect of overruling the latter. Ansin v Thurston, Fla., 101 So.2d 808. If the two cases are distinguishable in controlling factual elements or if the points of law settled by the two cases are not the same, then no conflict can arise. Florida Power and Light Co. v Bell, Fla., 113 So.2d 697; Nielsen v. City of Sarasota, Fla., 117 So.2d 731." (Emphasis supplied) (KYLE V. KYLE, 139 So.2d 885,887)

Under the above test it is clear that no conflict exists between the decision challenged and the holdings in FLEMING. Not only do the facts of each case differ materially, but the rule of law applied in one was never raised and or considered in the other.

Something ought be said about Petitioner's final paragraph which asserts that discretionary review ought to be accepted because this case involves the elderly. While this may be true, this in and of itself is not reason or justification to assume jurisdiction for discretionary review. To do so would amount to a total disregard by this Court of the conflict jurisdiction exception which was substantially narrowed by the 1980 amendment to the Florida Constitution. This case was never certified as a question of great public importance and the holding of the Fourth District Court below is logical, well reasoned and otherwise amply supported by the precedent cited by the Fourth District in its Opinion. Alternatives to the voluntary guardianship

status of award are open if termination of the guardianship is desired during its pendency. This was never done in this case, no court approval of the subject deed was ever accomplished and Petitioner has failed to demonstrate that the subject opinion challenged conflicts with the decision of the First District Court in FLEMING.